
.

6

APPENDIX A

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

ABC Testing Docket No. 030-19223
Bridgewater, Massachusetts 02324 License No. 20-19778-01

As'a result of the inspection conducted on April 23-24, 1985, and in accordance
with the NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the following violations
were identified:

A. 10 CFR 34.24 requires that each survey instrument used to conduct
physical radiation surveys be calibrated at intervals not to exceed three
months and after each instrument servicing.

Contrary to the above, during the period from November 7,1984 to March
14, 1985, physical radiation surveys were conducted with a survey
instrument which was last calibrated on August 6, 1984, an interval of
more than three months prior to the date of use.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)

B. 10'CFR 34.31(a)(2) requires that no licensee permit any person to act as a
radiographer until that person has received copies of Title 10 Code of
Regulations, Part 34 and the applicable sections of Parts 19 and 20, NRC
license (s) under which the radiographer will perform radiography, and the
licensee's operating and emergency procedures.

Contrary to the above, as of April 24, 1985, individuals were permitted
to act as radiographers that had not received copies of the required
Parts of Title Ten Code of Regulations, your NRC . license, and your
operating and emergency procedures.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

C. 10 CFR 34.11 requires that licensees have an internal inspection system
to assure operating and emergency procedures are followed by radiographers
and radiographer's assistants and the performance of inspections at inter-
vals not to exceed three months and retention of records of the inspec-
tions for two years.

Contrary .to the above, as of April 24, 1985, no inspections of your
radiographers had been performed during calendar years 1984 and 1985.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

D. 10 CFR 34.33(a) requires that all radiographers and radiographer's
assistants wear pocket dosimeters during all radiographic operations and
that the pocket dosimeters be recharged at the beginning of each shif t.
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Contrary to the above, as of April 24, 1985, radiographers routinely
failed to recharge their pocket dosimeters at the beginning of each shift
during 1984 and 1985.

This is a Severity Level IV violation (Supplement VI).

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, ABC Testing is hereby required to
submit to this office within thirty days of the date of the letter which trans-
mitted this Notice, a written statement or explanation in reply, including:
(1) the corrective steps which have been taken and the results achieved;
(2) corrective steps which will bc taken to avoid further violations; and
(3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where good cause is shown,
consideration will be given to extending this response time.
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